
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Candida Basilio, Democratic Services Officer  
 
Tel: 07895 213820 
 

 

E-mail: candida.basilio@southandvale.gov.uk 
 
Date: 28 November 2023 
 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 
 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Scrutiny Committee 

 
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 6 DECEMBER 2023 AT 6.00 PM 
AT ABBEY HOUSE, ABBEY CLOSE, ABINGDON OX14 3JE 
 
To watch this meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ  
 

Members of the Committee: 

Ken Arlett (Chair) 

Mocky Khan (Vice-Chair) 
David Turner 
Jo Robb 
 

Tony Worgan 
Leigh Rawlins 
James Barlow 
 

Kate Gregory 
Katharine Keats-Rohan 

 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

 

1.       Apologies for absence 
 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   
 
2  Urgent business and chair's announcements   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.   
 
3  Declaration of interests   

 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests and 
non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the agenda for 
this meeting.  

 
4  Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the committee minutes of the meeting held on 7 
November 2023. 
 
5  Work schedule and dates for all South and Joint scrutiny 

meetings  (Pages 9 - 11) 
 

To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are 
confirmed, the items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to or 
rearranged without further notice. 

 
6  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.   
 

REPORTS AND ISSUES FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
7  SODC Community Infrastructure Levy Pilot Grant Fund Policy  

(Pages 12 - 31) 
 

An opportunity for Scrutiny Committee to review the policy, ask questions and make any 
recommendations or comments to Cabinet. 

 
Vivien Williams 
Interim Monitoring Officer 
 

 

 



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Scrutiny Committee 

 
HELD ON TUESDAY 7 NOVEMBER 2023 AT 6.00 PM 
ABBEY HOUSE, ABBEY CLOSE, ABINGDON OX14 3JE 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: Ken Arlett (Chair), Mocky Khan, Tony Worgan, Leigh Rawlins, James Barlow 
and Kate Gregory 
Officers: Simon Hewings (Head of Finance), Candida Basilio (Democratic Services 
Officer), Andy Roberts (Communications and Engagement Officer), Emma Turner 
(Enforcement Team Leader) 
Guests: Cabinet members Councillors Anne-Marie Simpson (Planning) and Pieter-Paul 
Barker (Finance and Property Assets) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Councillors: Jo Robb, Katharine Keats-Rohan 
Officers: Adrian Duffield (Head of Planning), Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief Executive 
for Transformation and Operations), Mark Minion (Head of Corporate Services), Paula Fox 
(Planning Development Manager), Richard Spraggett (Strategic Finance Officer),  
Guests: Cabinet Members Councillor Andrea Powell (Corporate Services), Councillor 
Maggie-Filipova-Rivers (Community Wellbeing), Councillor Robin Bennett (Economic 
Development and Regeneration), Councillor David Rouane (Leader), Sue Cooper 
(Environment) 
 
 

15 Apologies  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor David Turner. Councillors Jo Robb and Katharine Keats-
Rohan were present online. It was noted that Councillors Leigh Rawlins and Kate Gregory were 
delayed and would be joining the meeting in person. 

 

16 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
Chair ran through some housekeeping matters. 

 

17 Declaration of interests  
 
None. 

 

18 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the South Scrutiny Committee meeting on 7 August were agreed as a correct 
record and the chair would sign them as such. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 2 

 

19 Public participation  
 
John Salmons spoke to item nine, on planning enforcement. Mr Salmons provided his views on the 
enforcement process. The chair thanked Mr. Salmons for his statement. 

 

20 Work schedule and dates for all South and Joint scrutiny meetings  
 
Committee noted the work programme. 

 

21 Financial outturn report 22/23  
 
Cabinet member for Finance and Property Assets introduced the report. Also present was Head of 
Finance, and the Strategic Finance Officer was present online to answer questions. The Cabinet 
member explained that the main points were that there had been a reduction in net expenditure 
and a carry forward of capital spend.  
 
Head of Finance added the following points for committee to note: 

 On revenue, the budget raised to £21m from the projected £15m at budget setting in 
2022, including budget carry forwards and slippage in one off Revenue growth 
schemes from the previous year being added to the budget and the £21m formed 
the basis of the variance for the year in terms of Revenue expenditure.  

 Table three points out that there was an underspend on expenditure of £3.4 million 
but when we take into account investment income there’s no significant 
underspend.  

 There was a significant carry forward of over 4 million from certain schemes and 
these are shown in more detail in appendices. 

 This budget was set the week before the invasion of Ukraine began which means 
that our expenditure budget did not take account of what happened to the economy 
during 2022-23 where we saw our costs go up which we had not foreseen when we 
set the budget. We also saw interest rates go up and utility costs supplies and 
services costs go up but at the same time we had more money in our investments. 

 Regarding capital and the significant slippage over the last two years. We had 
undertaken a very detailed piece of work, looking at the revenue budget. It had been 
subject to significant budget challenging exercises, but we had neglected capital 
from such an exercise but we were rectifying that as we speak. We're in the middle 
of a capital programme challenge exercise now, which was reviewing all of our 
current capital projects in terms of meeting current corporate priorities and making 
sure we've got the funding.  

 We had not got the profiling right when we set the capital program for 22-23, which 
we were endeavouring to fix as part of next year's budget setting.  

 There were significant slippage items - those relating to the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding. As part of our current CIL funding strategy, we 
allocate all the CIL we take after the amount for Parishes and the admin levy. 50% 
was allocated to Oxfordshire County Council, 20% was allocated to Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and 30% was for South Oxfordshire. What the 
underspend represents was money that we had collected on behalf of CCG and 
hold for the CCG to spend on schemes on their behalf. We await details from CCG 
on what schemes the funding should be allocated to. 

 
Below summarises the main comments and questions raised by the scrutiny committee. 

 Committee asked questions of clarification on the underspend and the impact of the war in 
Ukraine in terms of inflation. It was responded that there was no concern that the grant 
funding wouldn’t be enough to achieve the scheme outcomes. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



 3 

 Policy Programmes underspend £4m – what was behind these underspends, was it 
transformation projects phasing? It was explained by Head of Finance and Deputy Chief 
Executive for Transformation and Operations that profiling changed due to changes to the 
programme. Of the 16 projects planned over 5 years, some projects were moved around so 
the phasing changed. Didcot Garden Town and Berinsfield Garden Town projects were 
now allocated and had delivery plans to match grant funding. The Cabinet member for 
Finance explained that the impact was a slow down on project delivery, but the budget 
didn’t reflect that the money couldn’t be spent in just that year, but the capital review would 
give better understanding and improve the profiling and presentation of this in budget 
reports.  

 Cabinet member for Corporate Services added that a programme manager was now 
employed, and a team was in place for delivery of transformation projects. During 2022-23 
the team had to settle in. 

 Para 24 page 15: 200k for revenue project  - it was commented that a Cabinet Member had 
identified this income from business rates. Head of Finance provided some context on 
business rates: there was no requirement for businesses to tell the council. Resources 
were needed to check businesses. The inspection regime was not easy. Some businesses 
were hard to spot. A member who knew their area well identified businesses they knew of. 
Mapping technology helped identify these businesses who weren’t paying rates. We used a 
third party with tools to help, on top of the inspection regime. This was set to continue. 

 Deputy Chief Executive for Transformation and Operations would respond to a question on 
the £200k underspend on the climate projects and what was driving that (paragraph 23, 
page 15 of the agenda pack). 

 Queries on Homes for Ukraine scheme underspend. It was responded that the war wasn’t 
happening when the budget was set. Support money was received from government in 
response. This was a phasing of funding received to support Homes for Ukraine. We can 
carry forward funds. 

 National non-domestic rates (NNDR) – a member asked about appeals to rates. Head of 
Finance explained that there was provision for if a bill was challenged. We were likely over 
prudent about debt after the end of Covid but can release those provisions at the end of the 
year. 

 A realistic Capital programme with better profiling – Head of Finance explained that 
external and internal funded capital programmes will be in the budget papers as separate 
budgets. There was improved use of CIL/S106 and external funds. 

 Will slippage go beyond 2024/25? Head of Finance wanted a realistic capital programme, 
hoping that slippage would become minimal over time. It was explained that the delivery of 
some schemes was optimistic, hence the underspend. The review will assist in correcting 
this. 

 Item 13/14, page 14 – agency staff costs – can we reduce? It was responded that the Legal 
team were trying to address this through restructure.  

 A member asked for detail of variances of revenues for Planning and Development & 
Corporate Landlord. The former was due to a downturn in the economy, where there were 
less applications. The latter was due to Cornerstone and carparks. This was detailed in the 
report. A Cornerstone report would be presented in December. 

 A member asked about budgeting for planning appeals. 
 
Chair gave thanks for the report. 
 
Resolved: 
Committee noted the report and provided comments for Cabinet: 
1. Committee were concerned that temporary/agency staff costs needed addressing 
2. On planning appeals, we should have a cost budgeted for appeals, including legal costs. 

We should recognise the cost. 
3. We need to have good control over the capital budgeting process and ask extra questions 

around it. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 4 

22 Consultation and Engagement annual report  
 
Cabinet member for Corporate Services, Policy and Programmes introduced the report. Present in 
the room was the Communications and Engagement Manager, to answer any questions raised. 
The Head of Corporate Services was also online to take questions. 
The report was the first of its kind, so the team were interested in Scrutiny committee’s 
suggestions. It covered both South and Vale. You can see the range of consultation and 
engagements. It was worth noting that consultations are statutory for the councils, whereas 
engagements are voluntary reaching out exercises and align with the Corporate Plan. There was 
desire to innovate and use different resources to reach out to different sectors of the community. 
The Cabinet member commended the team for their work. 
 
The main questions and comments raised by scrutiny committee were: 
 

 A member asked how do consultation results follow through to the next stage consistently? 
The officer responded that it varies by consultation. For the Joint Local Plan (JLP), a report 
was produced and a recommendation from an independent officer. Planning Policy team 
were involved in analysis of the JLP response and produced a consultation statement on 
the website including officer responses. Head of Corporate Services added that we could 
strengthen the “what happened next” part of the analysis. He also mentioned the team will 
be using a new and more engaging software. 

 Diversity and Inclusion strategy – of 234 people, how many were from diverse groups? The 
demographic profile was included in the report but some respondents were representing 
groups. The officer responded that they had created a database of 273 equalities 
organisations across our districts for direct contact on consultation and engagement. 

 The officer explained they were hoping to broaden consultations by going to cafes, schools 
etc to speak to people. It was tricky to get young people to engage. 

 It was confirmed that Inclusion and Diversity Champions were officers across the council 
teams. 

 Committee commended the report and supported the direction. 

 A member suggested focus groups and panels to help engage those difficult to reach 
groups, although recognition given to resourcing issues. Cabinet member suggested a 
targeted approach to engage young people on specific sections/themes that mean 
something to them. The officer did raise that always consulting the same people via a focus 
group was not ideal. 

 Ethnicity slide – on the lower % figures, can we try to understand the granular details of 
those figures in future reporting? 

 Cabinet member for Healthy Communities was invited to speak by the chair, and she added 
that this was a living document and we can always do better. The engagement was 
promising, and the report was a good start. Cabinet member cited some examples of 
outreach she was involved in. She said members can have more direct involvement in 
engagement in their daily work. Cabinet member for Corporate Services alerted members 
to the fact that the full data on individual consultation and engagement exercises can be 
found in their individual reports. 

 Committee discussed demographics data, which was expensive but was being considered. 

 A member suggested taking feedback at events, not afterwards. 

 Head of Corporate Services saw the importance of reaching out to talk to people. He added 
that in his previous work, focus groups weren’t successful. He added that the engagement 
team was three people. 

 
Resolved: 
Committee noted the report. Committee’s comments to Cabinet were as follows: 

1. We should link consultations to our Corporate Plan themes – the golden thread concept. 
2. Committee supported the direction to reach underserved residents, and to apply a deeper 

approach where we could afford to. 
Officer and Cabinet members were thanked. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



 5 

 

23 Planning enforcement update report  
 
Cabinet member for Planning introduced the report, supported by the Enforcement Team Leader 
and Head of Planning: 
 
The report provided an update on the continued improvement of planning enforcement work. 
Overall since the last report the on-hand enforcement case numbers had been further reduced and 
the performance improvement in throughput of cases had been maintained. In graph one on page 
63 overall case numbers were continuing to fall. Councillors requested further reporting on older 
cases up to and over 36 months and graph two on page 64 confirms that focus on reducing the 
older cases was also starting to progress. In April, extra resources were moved into the team to 
help with managing workload and achieve the six-week performance target. This had worked well 
with greater consistency in the six-week performance target as seen on graph three on page 65. 
The additional resources had been made permanent to enable the team to maintain its improved 
performance and deal with an increasingly complex case load. Complex cases means, for 
example, sites with multiple breaches and or where a multi-agency team both internally and with 
our partners was required. 
The Cabinet member considered that the current planning enforcement statement which sets out 
our approach to plan enforcement was working well and that there was no need for further change 
at this time. Cabinet member welcomed any questions or comments from the committee. 
 
The committee provided their comments and questions, outlined as follows: 
 

 Member would like to see the numbers at zero to six months. 

 Scoring elements – a member asked whether this had been reviewed as per the last 
scrutiny meeting, to give higher scores to the most serious cases. The officer explained that 
the feedback that they got was reviewed, and as a result, they added greater weight to 
breaches of condition. You can see in the triage form that there was now a weight  given of 
four. Anything that hits a five or more goes to the next stage of investigation. 

 Paragraph 12 was highlighted by a member for showing the district was bucking the 
national trend of meeting customer demand and resourcing. A member would like to see 
qualitative data on the work of the team. Anonymised case studies etc, to highlight 
examples. Number of notices served as well? Background could be given to law and the 
framework the team works to. A suggestion was given that six-monthly reporting was too 
onerous, and yearly, with some qualitative data, would be better. The Cabinet member 
explained that there was no national targets to work to at present – she added that notices 
served wasn’t a good measure. The Cabinet member informed that other authorities were 
asking the team about their work, which was a sign of success. Parish and Town council 
training had been helpful in informing people of how the system works with the new 
Enforcement Statement (this was a previous scrutiny suggestion). Head of Planning 
suggested we could bring appeals success as a measure for enforcement, in due course. 
Enforcement appeals were over 90% won by the district. The Government was reviewing 
performance for the planning regime, but so for its mainly quantitative data suggestions. 

 The officer explained that there wasn’t a backlog like during Covid, and there would always 
be open cases. Open cases had been brought under 300. The team was now focussing on 
complex cases due to reduced backlog. Cases were now on-hand, not backlog. 

 Chair added that officers should focus on casework primarily, and we should avoid too 
many demands on reporting. 

 
Resolved:  
Committee noted the report and provided the following comments to Cabinet. 

1. Annual reporting wanted on monthly and annual figures of new cases coming through. 
Inclusion of cases 0-6 months. 

2. Committee would like to be updated on the triage scoring. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 6 

 
The meeting closed at 20:04 
 

 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 27 November 2023  Page 1  28/11/23 

Scrutiny work programme 

27 November 2023 
 
 
 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

Scrutiny Committee 6 
Dec 2023 
 

SODC Community 
Infrastructure Levy Pilot 
Grant Fund Policy 
 

 
 

Pieter-Paul Barker 
 

Mark Hewer 
mark.hewer@southandva
le.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 29 Jan 2024 
 

Garden waste permit 
approach 
 

 
 

Sue Cooper 
 

Mark Minion 
mark.minion@southandv
ale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 6 
Feb 2024 
 

Budget setting 
 

 
 

Pieter-Paul Barker 
 

Simon Hewings 
simon.hewings@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 6 
Feb 2024 
 

Corporate Plan 2024 - 
2028 approach 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell 
 

Tim Oruye 
tim.oruye@southandvale.
gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 25 Mar 2024 
 

Didcot Garden Town 
strategies 
 

Scrutiny will review a report 
that  will update on the DGT 
Delivery Plan and seek specific 
approvals from Cabinet for 
relevant strategies or plans 
 

Cabinet member for 
economic development 
and regeneration 
 

Jayne Bolton 
jayne.bolton@southandva
le.gov.uk 
 
 
 P

age 9

A
genda Item

 5

mailto:mark.hewer@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:mark.hewer@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:mark.minion@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:mark.minion@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 27 November 2023  Page 2  28/11/23 

 
Items for future meetings (dates to be determined) 

 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Between  27 
Nov 2023 and 22 Dec 
2023 
 

Joint Local Plan 
Regulation 18 Part 2 - to 
approve preferred 
options for consultation 
 

 
 

Anne-Marie Simpson 
 

Andrew Lane 
andrew.lane@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Between  27 
Nov 2023 and 22 Dec 
2023 
 

Biffa annual performance 
report 
 

 
 

Sue Cooper 
 

Paul Fielding 
paul.fielding@southandva
le.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Between  27 
Nov 2023 and 22 Dec 
2023 
 

Community Safety 
Partnership annual 
report 
 

 
 

Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
 

Diane Foster 
diane.foster@southandva
le.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 
February 2024 
 

Cornerstone 
 

Appraisal on future service 
delivery for Cornerstone Arts 
Centre, Didcot 
 

Pieter-Paul Barker 
 

Andrew Busby 
andrew.busby@southand
vale.gov.uk 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 5

mailto:andrew.lane@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.lane@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:paul.fielding@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:paul.fielding@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 27 November 2023  Page 3  28/11/23 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Corporate plan quarterly 
performance report 
 

When quarterly performance 
management reports are 
reported to Cabinet, Scrutiny 
Committee members will be 
asked to review the report and 
confirm to the Scrutiny Chair if 
there are any elements of the 
report they wish to discuss at 
the next Scrutiny Committee 
meeting.  The relevant Cabinet 
lead and contact officer will be 
notified.  
 

Andrea Powell 
 

Tim Oruye 
tim.oruye@southandvale.
gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Transformation 
programme update 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell 
 

Tim Oruye 
tim.oruye@southandvale.
gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 26 Feb 2024 
 

Future items for Joint 
Scrutiny to be confirmed 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5

mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk


 

 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Mark Hewer 

Telephone: 01235 422472 

Textphone: 18001 01235 422472 

E-mail: mark.hewer@southandvale.gov.uk 

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Pieter-Paul Barker  

Tel:  01844 212438 

E-mail: pieter-paul.barker@southoxon.gov.uk 

To: Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 6 December 20203 

To: CABINET 

Date: 18 December 2023 

 

 

South Oxfordshire Community 

Infrastructure Levy Grant Fund Pilot 

Scheme Policy 

Recommendation(s) 

a) That Cabinet considers whether or not to approve the pilot scheme policy to award 
grants for delivery of infrastructure funded by the council’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allocation, attached in appendix one.  

b) If Cabinet supports the pilot scheme policy, that it delegates authority to the 
relevant head of service in consultation with the relevant cabinet member to make 
minor amendments to the standard terms and conditions of the scheme. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To seek Cabinet approval and relevant delegations for implementation of the 
South Oxfordshire CIL Grant Fund Pilot Scheme, as set out in the policy in 
appendix one.  
 

2. To bring to the attention of Cabinet members the benefits, risks and alternative 
options in relation to the application of CIL funding to allow for an informed 
decision on the recommendations of the report. 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7

mailto:pieter-paul.barker@southoxon.gov.uk


 

 

 

Corporate Objectives  

3. The allocation of CIL retained by the district council must be spent on 
infrastructure required to support the development of the area.  Any 
infrastructure projects delivered directly by the council are required to gain the 
necessary approvals to progress and as such, must demonstrate support of 
the council’s corporate priorities. 

4. A requirement of the CIL pilot grant scheme is for projects to demonstrate that 
they support at least one of the council’s corporate priorities, as set out in the 
corporate plan, with a greater score awarded for applications that can 
demonstrate support of additional priorities or projects identified in 
neighbourhood plans or the local plan. 

5. Further weight is given to projects that support the council’s aspirations to 
tackle the climate emergency.  Further information on how the CIL pilot 
scheme can help support this key aim of the council is addressed in the 
climate and ecological impact implications section of this report.  However, it 
should be noted that whilst CIL can support green infrastructure projects and 
the mitigation of environmental impacts relating to infrastructure projects, this 
is not the primary intention of the funding. 
 

Background 

6. South Oxfordshire District Council started charging CIL in April 2016 which 
was followed by the introduction of a spending strategy in 2019 and 
subsequently updated in April 2021.  The spending strategy acknowledges a 5 
per cent allocation for administration of CIL and a 15 or 25 per cent allocation, 
depending on neighbourhood plan status, paid to the town and parish councils 
that have experienced CIL liable development in their area, known as the 
neighbourhood proportion, as required by regulation.  The remaining amount, 
the strategic proportion, is retained by the district council for the purpose of 
providing infrastructure that supports development in the district, and is 
allocated as follows: 
 
- 50 per cent to Oxfordshire County Council for delivery of the following 

infrastructure types: education, transport, libraries and household recycling 
centres 

- 20 per cent for public health care infrastructure  
- 30 per cent retained by the district council for infrastructure that it is 

responsible for, such as leisure and other community facilities 
 
As the council already allocates a significant amount of its CIL collection to 
Oxfordshire County Council for education, transport, libraries and household 
recycling centres and to public healthcare infrastructure supported by the 
Integrated Care Board (ICB), projects that fall under the responsibility of the 
county council or the ICB, will not be eligible for funding under the CIL pilot 
grant fund scheme. 

 
7. As part of the 2023/24 budget setting process, approved in February 2023, an 

allocation of £750,000 was added to the council’s provisional capital 
programme to support a pilot scheme to enable third party organisations to 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

 

apply for funding to enable the delivery of infrastructure projects that meet the 
CIL spending criteria and support the corporate objectives of the council.  The 
pilot CIL grant fund policy, as set out in appendix one, will bring forward a 
scheme to open this fund to eligible organisations to seek funding towards 
infrastructure projects which will be assessed and prioritised against the 
criteria set out in the policy. 

8. The main consideration for the policy is compliance with the CIL spending 
regulations which state: 

The levy can be used to fund a wide range of infrastructure, including 
transport, flood defences, schools, hospitals, and other health and social care 
facilities. This definition allows the levy to be used to fund a very broad range 
of facilities such as play areas, open spaces, parks and green spaces, cultural 
and sports facilities, healthcare facilities, academies and free schools, district 
heating schemes and police stations and other community safety facilities.  
 
Local authorities must spend the levy on infrastructure needed to support the 
development of their area, and they will decide what infrastructure is needed. 
 
The levy can be used to increase the capacity of existing infrastructure or to 
repair failing existing infrastructure if that is necessary to support 
development. 
 
Whilst the policy enables this CIL allocation to be made available for 
applications by other organisations, the requirements set out above still apply 
and only projects that fulfil this requirement can be considered under this 
scheme.  Therefore, only projects that deliver new infrastructure or expand the 
capacity or reach of existing facilities, can be considered for this scheme.   

9. Another key consideration for the pilot scheme, as a result of discussion with 
council’s community enablement team, was the need for this to compliment 
the council’s existing capital grants scheme.  The capital grants scheme 
currently allows for applications of up to £75,000 which has helped to inform 
the minimum funding limit for the pilot CIL grant fund.  This will also encourage 
schemes of a suitable scale that are likely to provide a wider benefit to the 
community than smaller, more localised schemes for which the strategic CIL 
allocation is not intended to support.  Scheduling of the opening of the scheme 
will also fit around the capital (and other) grants schemes. 

10. Other key aspects of the pilot scheme are: 

 Funding is restricted to projects where the CIL allocation being applied 
for is the final or only funding element.  This is to ensure that funding is 
only awarded to deliverable projects and is used in accordance with the 
CIL regulations i.e. for provision of infrastructure.  Whilst funding 
requested can include preliminary costs that can be capitalised as part 
of the infrastructure project, this must form part of an application for the 
overall project delivery phase. 

 Projects that are already fully funded are not eligible to apply for the 
scheme. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 The application process is split into two phases.  An initial expression of 
interest (EOI) process will ensure that only eligible projects are invited 
to progress to the full application stage.  This will help to minimise 
resourcing implications and prevent applications from being fully 
worked up if they do not meet the basic eligibility criteria of the scheme. 

 The EOI process is to be managed directly by the Infrastructure 
Obligations Team.  Full applications are to be submitted through the 
Community Enablement Team’s grant funding system, but will again be 
assessed by the Infrastructure Obligations Team prior to 
recommendations for funding awards being made to the relevant 
cabinet member for determination. 

 Details of all funding awards and subsequent delivery of these projects 
will be recorded in the council’s statutory annual infrastructure funding 
statement. 

Options 

11. Other options considered alongside the scheme are set out in the table below: 

Option Reason for rejection  

Do not proceed with a scheme to 
allow third parties the opportunity to 
benefit from an allocation of CIL 
funding. 

Whilst the council has no obligation to 
allow for the strategic CIL allocation to 
be made available to other 
organisations, this is not excluded by 
the regulations and funding for this 
purpose has been included in the 
provisional capital programme as part 
of the approved budget.   

It is also recognised that ability to 
provide the required infrastructure 
may not fall within the ability of the 
district council and working in 
partnership with other organisations 
will help deliver such projects. 

Use CIL to replace, or add to, the 
current funding source for the 
council’s capital grants scheme. 

Use of the strategic CIL allocation 
must be for provision of infrastructure 
and therefore cannot be considered 
as available for use on all capital 
projects.  For CIL to be used as a 
funding source for third parties to 
apply for, allocation to projects that 
meet the CIL spending regulations is 
an essential requirement and the 
scheme would need to be designed 
accordingly. 

Ringfence funding so that it is only 
available for schemes that are already 

At present, a pre-identified list of 
schemes does not exist that could be 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 

 

identified as an infrastructure 
requirement to support development. 

used for this purpose.  However, the 
new Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
leisure studies, that will form part of 
the upcoming Joint Local Plan, or a 
review of neighbourhood plans, may 
present a future opportunity for this 
opinion to be considered. 

Proceed with a scheme with lower 
funding limits  

A lower funding limit would be more 
likely to encourage applications for 
schemes that do not fulfil the CIL 
spending regulation requirements or 
that may achieve a narrower benefit 
than is intended for the use of the 
strategic CIL allocation.  However, the 
scheme does allow for applications 
under the lower funding limit to be 
considered if it can be demonstrated 
that the project will deliver the 
outcome required by the CIL 
regulations.  

Only allow funding to be awarded for 
projects that are also being funded by 
the neighbourhood CIL allocation 
which is paid to town and parish 
councils. 

A requirement for this would be likely 
to make the scheme too restrictive 
and preclude organisations other than 
town and parish councils from 
applying to the scheme.  Also, whilst 
the level of neighbourhood CIL is a 
good indication of the scale of 
development in an area, the 
infrastructure to support that growth 
may not necessarily be delivered 
within that town or parish area or, the 
neighbourhood allocation may already 
be fully committed to other meaningful 
projects. 

The scheme should not be 
considered as a means to ‘top-up’ the 
neighbourhood allocation, unless the 
intended project can demonstrate that 
it has a wider reach than its 
immediate locality. 

Agree a longer-term CIL grant fund 
policy 

Whilst every consideration has been 
given to produce a policy that covers 
all eventualities and achieves the 
desired benefits, there are many 
factors that may affect the overall 
suitability of the scheme which, by 
operating a pilot scheme in the first 
instance, will allow for changes to be 
made to future policies to improve the 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



 

 

operation of subsequent schemes. 

At present, there is also only funding 
allocated for a pilot scheme and any 
possible future allocations for 
subsequent schemes would be 
dependent on funding availability, 
changes in regulations and/or 
priorities and on evaluation of the 
outcomes of the pilot scheme.  

 

12. The CIL spending strategy could be reviewed, and the current allocations as 
set out in point six of this report, be amended to reapportion the direction of 
the funding.  This option will be considered alongside the new joint local plan 
to understand if there are opportunities to make closer links between the new 
Infrastructure Delivery Plans and the spending strategy. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

13. Whilst CIL is not a funding source designed specifically to deliver green 
infrastructure or enhance other infrastructure, this pilot CIL grant scheme will 
help the council support nature recovery and deliver its Climate Action target 
of being a carbon neutral district by 2030.  As a result of this, part of the 
assessment criteria is specifically reviewed against the environmental 
implications of the proposed project and is weighted accordingly. 

14. Any projects which do not minimise energy use and carbon emissions, or have 
a detrimental effect on nature recovery, may not be appropriate for council 
funding, and this will be reflected in the scoring.    

15. The council is also running a CIL funding pilot scheme for biodiversity 
infrastructure projects through the Trust for Oxfordshire’s Environment (TOE), 
where an allocation of £50,000 has be approved to support projects eligible 
under the CIL spending criteria and recommended by TOE.  Larger scale 
biodiversity projects or projects which improve public access to green spaces 
may be eligible for this pilot scheme, but recommend any initiative that is put 
forward for this scheme is aligned with local or county-wide nature recovery 
strategies and plans.  

Financial Implications 

16. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the 
knowledge of the council’s overarching financial position.  For South 
Oxfordshire District Council, the position reflected in the council’s medium-
term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to full Council in February 2023 
showed that it is due to receive £644,000 less in revenue funding than it plans 
to spend in 2023/24 (with the balance coming from reserves), with this budget 
gap expected to continue in future years.  However, there is great uncertainty 
over this caused by a lack of clarity from government.   

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



 

 

17. The future funding gap is predicted to increase to over £8.5 million by 
2027/28, based on current cautious officer estimates of future funding levels.  
Whilst it is anticipated that overall funding for the council will remain relatively 
unchanged in 2024/25, the lack of certainty on future local government funding 
from 2025/26 onwards means the level of funding, and the resulting estimated 
funding gap, could be significantly different from current officer estimates in 
either a positive or negative way.  Every financial decision, particularly those 
involving long-term funding commitments (i.e., those beyond 2024/25), needs 
to be cognisant of the potential for significant funding gaps in future years.   

18. The operation of, and award of the allocated funding though the pilot scheme 
will not impact on the council’s funds received from the taxpayer.  The funding 
allocation is fully funded from CIL receipts and all officer time in delivering the 
scheme will be covered from the administration proportion.  However, award 
of funding to other organisations will reduce the funding available to the district 
council for its own future infrastructure projects. 

19. Including the £750,000 allocated for the CIL pilot grant fund scheme, the 
council has allocated CIL funding totalling £7,304,736 across 46 projects.  The 
projected profiled end of year CIL balances of the 30 per cent allocation 
retained by the district council over the medium term is set out in the table 
below: 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£7,292,266.70 £5,942,266.70 £7,085,266.70 £8,309,266.70 £9,533,266.70 

 
It should be noted that the figures above are based on an estimation of CIL 
receipts over the stated period and does not include any allocations towards 
future projects or existing projects that may require additional funding in order 
to be delivered. 

20. Based on CIL receipts for the district council’s retained allocation over the 
previous 12-month period, totalling £1,597,777, the £750,000 allocation for the 
pilot scheme represents 47 per cent of the annual collection.  Consideration 
for future funding schemes will need to review if an allocation at the same 
level secured for the pilot scheme would be sustainable. 

21. Organisations who do not accept the funding award offer within four weeks, 
will have the offer withdrawn making the funds available to the next highest 
scoring application(s) that were not awarded funding at the initial assessment 
phase.  This will also apply to funding awards where the project does not 
progress, or the funding agreement is not signed.  If there are no further 
qualifying projects, funds will be returned to the allocation for the CIL pilot 
scheme for consideration for inclusion in future schemes or returned to the 
wider district council CIL pot.  

22. The scheme will have resourcing implications for the Infrastructure Obligations 
Team and other teams within the council in terms of operating the fund and 
monitoring projects once funding has been awarded, details of which will be 
reported in the council’s statutory infrastructure funding statement.  The 
resourcing costs will be covered by the five per cent CIL administration 
allocation. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Legal Implications 

23. The Government has consulted on a replacement for CIL with a differently 
formulated Infrastructure Levy which if introduced could necessitate a 
cessation or change of this proposed CIL pilot scheme. 

24. Irrespective that this is proposed to be a grant scheme it is effectively the 
spending of CIL monies and subject to the same restrictions, with there being 
some nexus to development in its area.  Therefore, it must be ensured that all 
and any projects to be successful in attracting this grant are for the provision 
of infrastructure that will mitigate the effect of/supports existing or planned new 
development in its area. Areas where there has been and is to be no new 
development will not be eligible for this grant scheme.  

25. Due to the nature and type of projects likely to come forward for this funding 
scheme and the usage restrictions of CIL, award of funding through pre-
agreed terms and conditions will not be possible.  Instead, funding will be 
awarded through third-party funding agreements which will set out the terms 
for the use of the award and process for release of these, which may vary 
from project to project. 

26. The Infrastructure Obligations Team are also responsible for funding awards 
of Section 106 (S106) contributions to other organisations.  Template funding 
agreements are in place for larger funding awards which will form the basis for 
the third-party funding agreements for the pilot CIL grant scheme. 

27. When submitting the application, applicants must confirm they have their 
organisation’s authority to make the funding application.  Applicants will also 
have to confirm that they have all of the relevant permissions in place such as 
planning permission, landlord consent etc.  Failure to do this will mean the 
application is not valid and will proceed no further.  

28. There may be subsidy control implications of awarding some grants.  Subsidy 
control considerations arise whenever public funds will provide organisations 
with an ‘advantage’ over their competitors for example, if an award given to 
one organisation to expand their business gave them a commercial advantage 
over another.  However, given that only not for profit organisations and town or 
parish councils can apply to this scheme this is unlikely, but the application will 
include questions that will enable officers to assess whether subsidy control is 
applicable and take the appropriate action.  

Risks 

29. The main risks associated with proceeding with the pilot CIL grant fund are: 

a) Whilst every consideration has been given to creating a scheme that will 
attract and support suitable projects from both a CIL eligibility and 
corporate priority perspective, there is a risk that the policy be either too 
open, leading to numerous applications that may not qualify for funding, or 
too restrictive, leading to very few applications being submitted.  This risk 
is mitigated by introducing the scheme in a pilot format so that revisions 
can be made based on actual experience should funding be allocated for 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



 

 

future schemes.  The policy also allows for minor amendments to the 
scheme to allow some flexibility whilst in progress. 

b) The scheme has been introduced in a pilot format and is a non-statutory 
requirement.  There is no confirmation that future allocation of CIL will be 
approved for future funding schemes.  If future schemes do not come 
forward, this may be due to the outcome of the pilot scheme, lack of 
funding availability based on other district council projects coming forward, 
a reduction of CIL income or changes to CIL regulations or the councils 
CIL spending strategy.  Implications of the perception of the non-provision 
of future funding rounds, should be considered when approving the pilot 
CIL grant scheme. 

c) The intention of the use of the strategic CIL allocation is to provide the 
infrastructure necessary to support the existing and planned future growth 
of the district.  Whilst the CIL spending regulations do not restrict the use of 
the strategic allocation to delivery of infrastructure that will support future 
development as set in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, there is a risk that if 
the funds are not used wisely, that planned development may be adversely 
impacted by lack of the required infrastructure being in place.  However, 
this is mitigated due to the relatively modest allocation for the pilot CIL 
funding scheme in relation to the overall balance retained by the district 
council and allocations to the county council and public health care 
providers, coupled with there being no restriction against such a funding 
scheme in the regulations. 

d) The funding must be used for provision of infrastructure required to support 
the development of the area.  There is a risk that by awarding funding to 
third-party projects where the district council has no control over delivery, 
that funding be spent but the infrastructure projects do not reach 
completion.  Mitigation is in place for this eventuality by restricting funding 
applications to only the delivery phase of projects and through the terms 
included in the third-party funding agreements, which will include clawback 
provisions.  Evidence will also be required to be provided to ratify the 
deliverability of each project.  For larger funding awards where a build 
programme is in place, it is likely that funding will be released in 
accordance with the programme and in proportion to the funding awarded 
against the overall project cost. 

30. It is acknowledged that other risks may materialise as the scheme progresses.  
Measures will be put in place to mitigate against these if and when they arise. 

Other implications 

31. We have considered our public sector equality duties under the Equality Act 
2010 and the Public Sector General Duty, and have developed the pilot CIL 
grant scheme policy to actively encourage applications for schemes that can 
demonstrate that full consideration has been given to inclusivity as part of the 
project proposals and also for schemes that safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and adults with care and support needs. 

32. Whilst restricting the funding availability to only projects that are eligible for 
delivery using CIL funding, the scoring criteria prioritises projects that support 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



 

 

the council’s aspirations, benefit the whole community and that are both 
deliverable and sustainable.  

Conclusion 

33. Amongst the benefits of the proposed CIL Grant Fund Pilot scheme, this will: 

 Support increased infrastructure demands placed on the community by 
growth in the area by allowing approval of funding towards projects that are 
not within the remit of the district council to provide directly.  

 Act upon the council’s corporate priorities, in particular, 05 - Homes and 
Infrastructure that meet the local needs. 

 Inform the potential for future CIL funding allocations to be made available to 
other organisations. 

34. The key aspects of the policy, associated risks and alternative options are set 
out in this report.  There are identified risks, and other options available to the 
council and Cabinet are invited to consider if there is sufficient mitigation 
against the risks and if, on balance, it considers there to be greater benefits 
overall to approve and progress with the pilot CIL grant scheme in accordance 
with the appended policy.   

35. Cabinet are invited to: 

a) Consider all aspects of this report and the detail of the CIL pilot grant 
scheme policy in assessing whether it wishes to progress with the 
scheme. 

b) If in support of the policy, to approve the CIL Grant Fund Pilot Scheme 
Policy and delegations set out in this report to enable the progression of 
the scheme. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy Pilot Grant Fund Policy for Delivery of New 
Infrastructure or Expansion of Capacity of Existing Facilities 

 
Overview of Community Infrastructure Levy spending requirements 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is collected by South Oxfordshire District Council 
from developers of liable sites and can be used to mitigate the cumulative impact of 
development on communities.  The ‘infrastructure portion’ is the remaining balance after 
town and parish councils have received the ‘neighbourhood portion’ of the CIL income, 
and the district council, as the CIL charging authority, has retained five per cent for 
administering the process.   

The infrastructure portion of the levy can be used to fund a wide range of infrastructure, 
including (but not limited to):  

- transport 
- flood defences 
- schools 
- hospitals, health and social care facilities 
- play areas, parks and green spaces 
- cultural and leisure facilities 
- district heating schemes 
- police stations and other community safety facilities 

 
This flexibility gives local authorities the opportunity to determine which infrastructure they 
need to deliver, providing that it supports the development in their area.  In addition to new 
infrastructure, the levy can also be used to increase the capacity of existing infrastructure, 
or to repair existing infrastructure where that is failing, if that is necessary to support 
development. 
 
The district council allocate the infrastructure portion through its CIL Spending Strategy as 
follows: 
 

- 50 per cent to Oxfordshire County Council for transport, education, libraries and 
household recycling centres 

- 20 per cent for public health care infrastructure 
- 30 per cent retained by the district council for infrastructure that it is responsible for, 

such as leisure and other community facilities.  

The CIL Pilot Grant Fund scheme 
 
As part of the 2023/24 budget setting process, South Oxfordshire District Council has 
allocated £750,000 from its 30 per cent proportion towards a CIL grant fund pilot scheme 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7

file:///C:/Users/SAV_Markhe/Downloads/Approved-Reviewed-South-CIL-spending-strategy-April-2021%20(22).pdf


 

 

to support other eligible organisations deliver projects for provision, expansion or 
improvement of infrastructure to support the growth the district.   
 
As the council already allocates a significant amount of its CIL collection to Oxfordshire 
County Council for education, transport, libraries and household recycling centres and to 
public healthcare infrastructure supported by the Integrated Care Board (ICB), projects 
that fall under the responsibility of the county council or the ICB, will not be eligible for 
funding under the pilot CIL grant fund scheme. 
 
The fund may only be used to support the actual delivery of physical infrastructure 
schemes where the project is for new provision or expansion of the capacity or reach of 
existing facilities and is not able to cover costs for scoping or pre-planning of projects.    
 
The initial CIL grant fund is a pilot scheme which will be open to town and parish councils 
and constituted not for profit community groups and organisations.  Applicants will be able 
to submit a bid for between £75,000 and £250,000 and will be required to show what 
percentage of the overall costs the CIL contribution will represent.  In exceptional 
circumstances, where a project can demonstrate significant benefits to the community, 
consideration may be given to funding requests above or below the funding thresholds, 
subject to prior approval by the relevant head of service. 
 

Process Summary 

Advance notice publicity and call for Expressions of Interest (EOI) – 6 weeks. 

EOIs assessed by officers on receipt. 

EOIs for approval and rejection checked with CIL Member Working Group in an 
advisory capacity. 

Successful EOI applicants invited to submit full application once fund formally 
launched. 

Formal launch – giving 6 weeks to submit application from approved EOI’s. 

Assessment by officers using scoring criteria. 

Projects recommended based on best scoring projects, up to the total fund value 
of the fund. 

Individual Cabinet Member Decision (ICMD) to award funding and delegate 
authority to officers to enter into funding agreements, by the relevant Cabinet 
member. 

Applicants advised outcome of application 

South Oxfordshire District Council and successful applicant(s) enter into a third-
party funding agreement setting out the process for release of funding and project 
monitoring, prior to release of funds. 

 
1. Advance notice 
The funding round will be promoted in advance of the call for applications, and EOI’s will 
be invited during the advance notice period. 
 
Promotion of the advance notice will be through the use of a range of communication 
channels including: 

 Local media press release 

 Social media 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Council website 

 Town and Parish Council News 

 Member Newsletter 

 Infrastructure Implementation Officers 
 
Communications will include access to guidance and an EOI template to enable potential 
applicants to make an early assessment of whether they have a suitable project and help 
guide the information they provide in their EOI. 
 
2. Assessment of EOIs 
EOI’s will be assessed on submission.  This will be undertaken by officers in the 
Infrastructure Obligations Team using pre-determined assessment criteria. 
 
The EOI assessment criteria is based on: 

 
a) Ensuring the applicant body is eligible, i.e., constituted community groups, not for profit 

organisations. 
b) Ensuring the proposed project will provide physical infrastructure that supports 

development, as required by the CIL Regulations and defined by the Planning Act 
2008, through new provision or expansion of the capacity or reach of existing facilities. 

c) Eligible costs, which may include materials, labour, specialist and inspection fees and 
project management costs. 

d) Support one or more of the council’s corporate priorities as set out in the corporate 
plan. 

e) Confirmation that the project will be fully funded if the CIL application is approved 
including details of any other funding sources.  EOIs will need to set out what other 
funding resources are being explored in support the project and whether an approach 
has been made.  Further detail and confirmation of secured match funding will be 
required at full application stage.  Projects will not be eligible if they are already fully 
funded. 

f) Relevant permissions are in place, or in the process of being sought, including planning 
and landowner permission if required. 

g) Project due to commence within 24 months of the proposed funding approval timeline. 
h) Projects that make a positive contribution to the climate and ecological emergency, and 

supports the delivery of the district council's net-zero emissions target and inclusivity 
requirements. 

 
If there is any uncertainty around a projects’ fit with any of the criteria, the Infrastructure 
and Development Team Leader will consult the CIL Member Working Group in order to 
make a decision on whether the project should be invited to progress to full application 
stage or not. 
 
The list of projects to be rejected, or invited to submit a full application, will be shared with 
the CIL Member Working Group. 
 
The Infrastructure Obligations Team will write to the EOI applicants at the end of the EOI 
stage, either inviting them to submit a full application (once launched) or explaining the 
reason why an application will not be accepted.   
 
EOI forms and guidance can be made available in accessible formats and support be 
given in the completing the EOI process. 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020-2024.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020-2024.pdf


 

 

 
3. Application process 
Successful EOI applicants will have six weeks to submit a full application for which, a 
deadline date will be given.   
 
A standard application form will be used, and guidance notes provided to assist applicants 
in completing the form.  This online form will be submitted and recorded through the 
council’s grants system.  Application forms and guidance can be made available in 
accessible formats and support be given in submitting applications. 
 
4. Decision making process 
As applications will only be received for projects successful at the EOI stage, all 
applications should pass the basic eligibility checks.  However, further eligibility checks will 
be undertaken again to ensure no fundamental changes have been made to the project 
since submission of the EOI.  The following will be considered invalid: 
 

 Projects which did not go through the EOI process or where the details of the project 
vary significantly to what was provided at the EOI stage. 

 Projects for which an application has not been submitted in the correct format, i.e. on 
the formal application form with any supporting information, as set out in the guidelines. 

 Projects where the applicant does not have the legal right to carry out the proposed 
activity, including confirmation of land ownership or, where applicable, formal 
landowner or planning permission for the project to be delivered.  

 Projects that cannot be defined as infrastructure to support development, or where the 
funding sought is not for the project delivery phase. 

 Projects that have a negative impact on the climate and ecological emergency, and do 
not support the delivery of the district council’s net-zero emissions targets. Projects that 
do not meet the council’s climate emergency action or inclusivity criteria. 

 Applications where funding is unable to be awarded due to subsidy control regulations. 
 
All valid applications will be assessed by officers against the full application criteria.  
Applicants will have one opportunity to answer any queries officers have or provide further 
clarification where required.   
 
The following criteria will be used to assess full applications: 
 

 Supporting the Local Plan / neighbourhood plans and corporate priorities – projects will 
be scored more favourably the clearer they can demonstrate local engagement and 
support for the project, including partnership working, fit with the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans (if applicable) and the council’s corporate priorities. 

 Evidence of need – economic, social, environmental 

 Fit with adopted neighbourhood plans and/or Local Plan 

 Partnership Working – evidence of working with other groups/organisations with the 

relevant expertise, where this would be necessary to successfully deliver the 

scheme 

 Local support – Local member, parish/town council, public engagement and other 

groups/organisations. 

 

 Project reach, impact and inclusivity: 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



 

 

- Projects that demonstrate the benefits the project will cover a wide geographical 
area and demographic will score higher than more localised projects that support a 
narrower sector of society.   

- All projects must demonstrate that full consideration has been/is to be given to 
inclusivity. 

- Where the project is for built infrastructure, an accessibility audit, that ensures that 
buildings and services are accessible to everyone and help organisations address 
accessibility barriers and create inclusive environments, will be required.  The costs 
of which can be included as part of the funding request. 

- Where appropriate, schemes should safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
and adults with care and support needs. 
 

 Delivery timeframe – will achieve a better score for quicker commencement and 
delivery of the project.  The rationale for this is that if a project is not in a position to 
start delivering relatively quickly, then support from possible future CIL funding rounds 
or other funding sources may be more appropriate. 
 

 Project costs – Applications must provide details of quotes and/or tendering process to 
demonstrate value for money.  However, higher costs can be justified if they offer the 
most environmentally sustainable option.  We expect due consideration of the climate 
and ecological impacts of purchasing decisions, such as the carbon footprint of service 
delivery, goods manufacturing and provision of works.  A justifiable contingency can be 
considered as part of the funding request. 

 

 Funding – it is expected that all projects should have some match funding, in order to 
make the most of the CIL funding available.  However, applications requesting 100 per 
cent support from the CIL fund will not be excluded. 

 

 Deliverability and sustainability: 

 Are project governance and management arrangements in place and 
responsibilities clearly set out? 

 Have realistic project risks and constraints, and appropriate mitigation, been 
identified?  

 Are any permissions required in order to deliver the project, i.e. planning, 
landowner, building control, and if so, are these in place or in the process of being 
obtained?  Details of this should have been demonstrated through the EOI process. 

 Do the project delivery timescales seem realistic in consideration of certainty of 
costs, and any permissions or funding applications outstanding? 

 Where there are ongoing maintenance requirements for the project once delivered, 
are arrangements and/or funding in place for this? 
 

 Action on the climate and ecological emergency: 
- How is the project minimising energy use and carbon emissions, or generating 

renewable energy? 
- Has the project chosen the most sustainable materials and climate friendly options 

for the project?   
- Where the project involves built infrastructure, has this received an energy audit 

and followed the energy hierarchy to reduce the carbon emissions from the project? 

1. Reduce energy use – for example installing high levels of insulation and 

efficient glazing. 

2. Use energy efficiently – for example LED lighting or low carbon vehicles. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



 

 

3. Use renewable energy sources – such as solar energy or other low carbon 

energy sources. 

- Has the project been designed following best practise and in consultation with 

relevant experts?  

- Has the project got a robust management plan to maintain any climate or ecological 

interventions in the long term? 

- Does the project fit with recognised county-wide or local strategies towards climate 

and nature recovery? 

 
With reference to the listed criteria, officers will score all applications using the scoring 
matrix set out in Appendix A.  Projects will then be ranked and funding awarded to highest 
scoring projects up to the value of the available fund. 
 
Any projects that score ‘0’ in any category or that score less than 21 points overall, will 
automatically not be recommend for support. 
 
Projects recommended for approval will be selected based on highest to lowest score, until 
the amount of funding requested totals the amount of funding available. 
 
Where a project is recommended for approval, one of the following three will apply: 
 
 Approve the total amount of money requested in line with the application. 

 Approve a smaller amount of money than that requested (provided the applicant has 
indicated that they could accept a lower amount and the project still be deliverable). 

 Approve the application subject to certain conditions. 

An Individual Cabinet Member Decision (ICMD) containing a summary of all the projects 
for approval (and those not recommended for approval) and delegation to officers to enter 
into a funding agreement to award the funding, will be produced for approval by the 
relevant cabinet member.  
 
The ICMD will be recorded in writing and published in accordance with Council’s usual 
procedures, including the reasons for approving or declining the recommendations.   
 
Applicants will be informed of the outcome as soon as possible after the decision is made.  
Unsuccessful applications will be provided with constructive feedback, and invited to 
reapply at a future funding round, if appropriate. 
 
5. Funding Agreements 
A third-party funding agreement will be customised for each successful project, which will 
set out monitoring and reporting requirements, conditions and arrangements for the 
release of funding.  This could include staged payments to be released on reaching project 
milestones. 
 
Due to the likely diverse nature of projects to be supported and spending restrictions set 
out by regulation, it is not possible to award funding through standard terms and 
conditions. 
 
6. Payment 
Payments will be made in accordance with the council’s standard payment terms and as 
set out in the third-party funding agreements. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
CIL funding awarded through this scheme must be spent within the timeframes set out in 
the funding agreement.  In very exceptional circumstances where a larger, more complex 
project is being supported, and it can be clearly demonstrated that it would not be possible 
to complete the project within the agreed timeframe, an extension to the timeframe may be 
considered. 
 
7. Project Progress Reporting 
Project progress reports will be required with successful award but will be dependant of 
the scale and type of project and will be set out in the relevant third-party funding 
agreement.  Where project development work is still required ahead of project delivery 
commencing, regular reports will still be required to evidence progression. 
 
The funding agreement will set out the reporting frequency and content for each project.  
Reports will be submitted to and monitored by, the Infrastructure Obligations Team, with 
any significant project deviations being reported to the CIL Member Working Group. 
 
A completion assessment will be undertaken by the Infrastructure Obligations team at the 
end of each project to ensure the project has delivered that which CIL funding was 
awarded for. 
 
8. Illustrative timeline of the process 
 
The scheme is anticipated to commence in January 2024 and follow the indicative timeline 
below.  These timescales are to be considered as a guide and may vary depending on the 
number and type of EOI’s and applications received.  
 

Activity Duration 

Advance notice publicised 2 weeks 

EOIs available to be submitted 4 weeks 

Assess EOIs  2 weeks from EOI deadline date 

Invite applications from agreed EOI’s 6 weeks 

Assessment of applications, 
clarifications/missing information sought 

8 weeks approx. 

Recommendations made and 
applications determined by Individual 
Cabinet Member Decision 

8 weeks approx. 

Applicants advised of decision With 2 days of decision with 
acceptance of offer required within 
4 weeks 

Third-party funding agreement be 
formally instructed (to be drafted 
alongside approvals process) 

2 days of acceptance of offer 
 

Draft third-party funding agreement to be 
sent to application 

4 weeks from Instruction 

Release of funding In accordance with the third-party 
funding agreement 

 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Appendix A – Scoring Matrix 

Score 
 

A – Supporting the 
local plan, 

neighbourhood plans 
and the council’s 

corporate priorities 
 

B - Project reach, impact and 
inclusivity 

C – Project 
start 

D - Costs  E - Funding F – Deliverability and 
sustainability 

G – Action on the climate 
and ecological 

emergency 

9 Project supports the 
infrastructure 

requirements identified 
in the Local Plan. 

 

Project demonstrates positive 
district-wide impact and full 

consideration for inclusivity.  For 
built infrastructure, an 

accessibility audit is a statutory 
requirement. 

 

within 6 
months. 

Quotes 
provided for 

all costs. 

Other funding 
sources of at 
least 50 per 
cent of full 

project cost in 
place. 

Project plan, governance, 
permissions and self-
funding maintenance 

programme all in place.  
 

An exemplar project which 
makes significant 

contributions to local or 
county-wide strategies, with 
positive, long-term impacts 

on climate change or 
nature recovery.  

 

6 Project supports the 
infrastructure 

requirements identified 
in relevant 

neighbourhood plan(s). 
 

Demonstration of positive impact 
in the locality of the project and 
a wide surrounding area and full 
consideration for inclusivity.  For 

built infrastructure, an 
accessibility audit is a statutory 

requirement. 
 

within 6-12 
months. 

Quotes 
provided for 

some 
costs, with 
remainder 
estimated. 

Other funding 
sources of 25 
to 50 per cent 
of full project 
cost in place. 

Project plan, governance, 
permissions and funded 
maintenance programme 

all in place. 
 

Project takes appropriate 
steps to minimise carbon 

emissions through all 
planning and delivery 

stages, with some long-
term outcomes to tackle 
climate change and/or 

nature recovery.  
 

3 Project supports 2 or 
more of the council’s 
corporate priorities.  

 

Demonstration of positive impact 
in the locality of the project and 
immediate surrounding areas 

and full consideration for 
inclusivity.  For built 

infrastructure, an accessibility 
audit is a statutory requirement. 

within 12-18 
months. 

No quotes 
but 

estimates 
based on 
industry 

standard. 

Other funding 
sources of up 
to 25 per cent 
of full project 
cost in place. 

Project plan and funded 
maintenance programme 

in place, governance 
and/or permissions in 

progress.  
 

Project has considered its 
impact on the climate and 
ecological emergency and 
includes some appropriate 

actions to minimise any 
negative impact.  Focus is 

not tackling the climate 
emergency, but outcome 
provides some benefits to 

support this challenge. 
 

1 Project supports 1 of the 
council’s corporate 

priorities. 

Demonstration of positive impact 
but limited to the immediate 
locality of the project and full 

consideration for inclusivity. For 
built infrastructure, an 

within 18 - 24 
months. 

Estimated 
costs only 

(not 
industry 

standard). 

CIL fund 
allocation to 
deliver 100% 
of the project 

cost. 

Project plan in place and 
maintenance programme, 

governance and/or 
permissions in progress.  

 

Project has a minimal effect 
on the climate and 

ecological emergency, and 
has minor mitigation in 

place. 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Appendix A – Scoring Matrix 

Score 
 

A – Supporting the 
local plan, 

neighbourhood plans 
and the council’s 

corporate priorities 
 

B - Project reach, impact and 
inclusivity 

C – Project 
start 

D - Costs  E - Funding F – Deliverability and 
sustainability 

G – Action on the climate 
and ecological 

emergency 

accessibility audit is a statutory 
requirement. 

 

 

0 Project does not support 
the local/ neighbourhood 

plans or any of the 
council’s corporate 

priorities 

No demonstration that project 
supports development of the 

area or consideration to 
inclusivity. 

longer than 
24 months. 

No quotes/ 
estimates 

or 
justification 
for costs. 

Not 
demonstrated 
the project is 
fully funded 

with the 
requested CIL 
allocation OR, 
the project is 
fully funded 

without the CIL 
request. 

 
 

No evidence of project 
plan, governance 

arrangement and ongoing 
maintenance programme. 

No consideration to, or 
negative effect on the 
climate and ecological 

emergency.  

Pass / 
Fail 

 

Is the project for delivery of physical infrastructure that is required to support housing development through new provision or expansion of the capacity or reach of 
existing facilities. 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Work schedule and dates for all South and Joint scrutiny meetings
	7 SODC Community Infrastructure Levy Pilot Grant Fund Policy

